Uldaho Law

## Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

---

Not Reported

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

---

5-24-2018

### State v. Bradshaw Appellant's Brief Dckt. 45495

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

### Nature of the Case

Tyler William Bradshaw appeals from the order of the district court revoking his probation and executing his previously-suspended prison sentence of eight years, with three years fixed. Upon revoking probation, the district court stated, “There was a Rule 35 filed previously that’s been denied. So I will not adjust the three years fixed or the five indeterminate that will be imposed.”

On appeal, Mr. Bradshaw claims that the district court abused its discretion because it failed to perceive that it had *sua sponte* discretion to reduce his sentence, notwithstanding the previously-filed motion.

### Statement of the Facts and Course of Proceedings

Mr. Bradshaw was found guilty of attempted strangulation. (*Bradshaw I*, R., p.197.)<sup>1</sup> The district court imposed a sentence of eight years, with three years fixed, but retained jurisdiction. He filed a Rule 35 motion for reconsideration of his sentence, which was denied by the district court on November 9, 2016. (*Bradshaw I*, R., pp.217, 22.) Thereafter, however, Mr. Bradshaw successfully completed the Idaho Department of Correction’s CAPP “rider” program, receiving praise for his serious attitude and the hard work he put forth to gain the

---

<sup>1</sup> Mr. Bradshaw had a prior appeal from the original judgment of conviction, which was affirmed. See *State v. Bradshaw*, 2017 Unpublished Opinion No. 519, Supreme Court docket no. 44523 (Ct. App. July 17, 2017). The Reporter’s Transcripts and Clerk’s Record from the prior appeal have been augmented into this case by the Supreme Court’s “Order Augmenting Appeal,” filed November 6, 2017. By that same Order, a limited Clerk’s Record and Reporter’s Transcript was prepared. Citations to the record from the prior appeal, No. 44523, are designated as “*Bradshaw I*”; and citations to the limited record prepared for this appeal, No.45495, are designated as “*Bradshaw II*”; *Bradshaw II* includes the Clerks Record, the transcripts of the evidentiary hearing held 9/12/18 and the disposition hearing held 9/20/18; as well as the confidential exhibits containing the APSI.

knowledge and skills that would help him overcome his life-long problem with alcohol. (*Bradshaw II*, Confidential Ex., pp.4-6.) He earned the Department's recommendation for placement on probation, which the district court adopted. (*Bradshaw II*, Confidential Ex., p.6; R., pp.18-21.) Mr. Bradshaw was released on probation on March 15, 2017. Although his family ties were in Twin Falls, he accepted a bus ticket and a month's paid housing in Boise, with the hope of making a fresh start there. (*Bradshaw II*, R., p.102; 9/12/17 Tr., p.8, Ls.15-24.) Confident in his new-found sobriety, he quickly obtained employment, which was of foremost importance to his probation officer; when he lost his first job, he found and worked two more. (*Bradshaw II*, R., pp.109-10; 9/12/17 Tr., p.8, Ls.15-17, p.39, L.22 – p.40, L.5.)

After about a month into his probation, however, Mr. Bradshaw began to struggle; he fell behind in rent and was evicted, and he wound up living at the Boise Rescue Mission at the direction of his probation officer. (*Bradshaw II*, R., p.94.) He got a late start in his rider aftercare, due in part to medical issues, although he diligently worked at that program once he began attending the sessions. (*See Bradshaw II*, 9/12/17 Tr., p.21, Ls.21-14.) He was also hospitalized for a short time and could not meet with his probation officer, which seemed to strain their relationship. (*See Bradshaw II*, R., pp.116-17.) Regrettably, and despite having enjoyed more than a year's sobriety, Mr. Bradshaw allowed himself to fall in with people who were poor influences; on May 10 he went into a bar and drank instead of meeting with his probation officer. (*Bradshaw II*, 9/12/17 Tr., p.16, L.19 – p.17, L.16.) He admitted this mistake to his probation officer and wanted help, but after he missed another meeting – albeit one for which he'd been given less than an hour's notice (*Bradshaw II*, 9/20/17 Tr., p.48, Ls.4-80), his probation officer filed a report of violation and took Mr. Bradshaw into custody. (*Bradshaw II*, R., pp.25-34, 53.)

The State filed a motion seeking to revoke Mr. Bradshaw's probation, alleging ten separate violations. (*Bradshaw II*, R., pp.25-34.) Following an evidentiary hearing, the district court rejected several of the alleged violations but found the majority of them had been proved. (*Bradshaw II*, 9/12/17 Tr., p.64, L.20 – p.71, L.3.) Specifically, the district court found Mr. Bradshaw in violation for associating with a person whose last name he did not know; for not contacting his probation officer when he lost his housing; for drinking at a bar; for not attending court-ordered classes; and for failing to make court-ordered payments. (*Bradshaw II*, 9/12/17 Tr., p.64, L.20 – p.71, L.3.)

At the disposition hearing, the State asked the district court to revoke probation and impose sentence, noting Mr. Bradshaw had since been in a fight with other inmates; Mr. Bradshaw asked the district court to re-instate his probation so that he could attend residential treatment at Victory House. (*Bradshaw II*, 9/20/17 Tr., p.6, Ls.21-25, p.18, Ls.3-16.) Neither party directly addressed the question of the appropriate sentence to impose if the court revoked probation, and neither party explicitly requested or opposed a reduction of the original sentence under Rule 35(b). (*See generally Bradshaw II*, 9/20/17 Tr.) In pronouncing its disposition for this case, however, the district court stated,

I am going to revoke probation, impose your sentence. *There was a Rule 35 filed previously that's been denied. So I will not adjust the three years fixed or the five indeterminate that will be imposed.*

(*Bradshaw II*, 9/20/17 Tr., p.20, Ls.15-18 (emphasis added).)

The district court entered an order revoking probation and executing Mr. Bradshaw's original sentence. (*Bradshaw II*, R., pp.164-68.) Mr. Bradshaw filed a timely appeal from that order. (*Bradshaw II*, R., p.169.)

ISSUE

Did the district court abuse its discretion when, upon revoking Mr. Bradshaw's probation, it decided to deny any reduction of sentence based on the previously filed Rule 35 motion?

## ARGUMENT

### The District Court Abused Its Discretion By Failing To Recognize That It Must Decide The Appropriate Sentence, Or That It Had Authority To *Sua Sponte* Reduce Mr. Bradshaw's Original Sentence, Notwithstanding The Previous Rule 35 Motion

#### A. Introduction

Mr. Bradshaw asserts the district court abused its discretion by failing to recognize that it must decide the appropriate sentence, or that it had authority to *sua sponte* reduce his original sentence, notwithstanding the previous Rule 35 motion. At a probation violation disposition hearing, the trial court considers whether to revoke or continue probation, and, if probation is to be revoked, whether to order the suspended sentence executed or, whether to reduce the sentence. I.C. § 19-2603(2), 20-222; I.C.R. 35(b); *State v. Hanington*, 148 Idaho 26, 27 (Ct. App. 2009). Thus, once a court decides to revoke probation, the issue becomes the appropriate sentence to be executed. *See State v. Clontz*, 156 Idaho 787, 792 (Ct. App. 2014). In short, there is “new decision (explicit or implicit) made by the district court upon revocation of probation.” *State v. Clontz*, 156 Idaho 787, 790 (Ct. App. 2014) (quoting *State v. Jensen*, 138 Idaho 941, 944 (Ct. App. 2003)) (emphasis original in both opinions). This “new decision” takes into account events before and after the original judgment. *See Hanington*, 148 Idaho at 28. Under the terms of Criminal Rule 35(b), “whenever a trial court revokes probation it has authority to *sua sponte* reduce the sentence that was originally imposed.” *Clontz*, 156 Idaho at 792 (quoting *State v. Jensen*, 138 Idaho 941, 944 (Ct. App. 2003)).

#### B. Standard Of Review

The decision of the district court not to reduce a sentence under Rule 35(b) is reviewed for an abuse of discretion. *State v. Knighton* 143 Idaho 318, 319 (2003). In determining whether a trial court has abused its discretion, the sequence of inquiry is:

[W]hether the trial court correctly perceived the issue as one of discretion; (2) whether the trial court acted within the outer boundaries of its discretion and consistently with the legal standards applicable to the specific choices available to it; and (3) whether the trial court reached its decision by an exercise of reason.

*State v. Perry*, 150 Idaho 209, 218 (2010).

In Mr. Bradshaw's case, the district court's conclusion – that it would not reduce the sentence *because of* the previously-filed Rule 35 motion – constitutes an abuse of discretion under the first and second prongs of the abuse of discretion standard. The district court misunderstood that it had discretionary authority under Rule 35(b) to *sua sponte* reduce Mr. Bradshaw's original sentence notwithstanding the previous filing and denial of a Rule 35 motion. Alternatively, the district court misunderstood its obligation to determine the *appropriate* sentence to be ordered on revoking probation.

Mr. Bradshaw acknowledges a defendant is generally foreclosed from claiming on appeal that the trial court erred by failing to *sua sponte* reduce a sentence upon revoking probation, since no request for, nor objection to, a reduction is made in the trial court to preserve such a claim. *State v. Clontz*, 156 Idaho 787, 792 (Ct. App. 2014). However, the Idaho Supreme Court recognizes an exception to this rule, where, as here, the issue is raised and decided by the trial court. *See State v. DuValt*, 131 Idaho 550, 554 (1998).

In the present case, after announcing that it would revoke probation and impose sentence, the district court decided that it would not “adjust” the original sentence because there had been a previously-file Rule 35 motion. (*See Bradshaw II*, 9/20/17 Tr., p.20, Ls.15-18.) Thus, while neither party had expressly raised the issue of the court's authority under Rule 35(b) to reduce Mr. Bradshaw's original sentence, the district court raised the issue and decided it, and the issue is therefore properly before this Court. *DuValt*, 131 Idaho at 554.

C. The District Court Misperceived Its Discretionary Authority, Granted By Rule 35(b), To Reduce The Sentence *Sua Sponte*, Notwithstanding The Previously-Filed Rule 35 Motion

Idaho Criminal Rule 35(b) sets forth the authority and mechanism for reducing a sentence whenever the court revokes probation, and provides, “The court may also reduce a sentence on revocation of probation or on motion made within 14 days after the filing of the order revoking probation.” I.C.R. 35(b). Thus, the Rule provides for two distinct opportunities for the court to reduce a sentence if it revokes probation: “on revocation” and “on a motion” timely made. Although the Rule’s contains a limitation that bars *a defendant* from filing more than one motion seeking a reduction of sentence, that limitation does not apply to the court’s authority to reduce the sentence “on revocation.” Thus, under the terms of Idaho Criminal Rule 35(b), “whenever a trial court revokes probation it has authority to *sua sponte* reduce the sentence that was originally imposed.” *Clontz*, 156 Idaho at 792 (quoting *State v. Jensen*, 138 Idaho 941, 944 (Ct. App. 2003)).

In the present case, after announcing that it would revoke probation and impose sentence, the district court decided that it would not reduce the terms of the original sentence *because* there had been a previously-file Rule 35 motion. (*See Bradshaw II*, 9/20/17 Tr., p.20, Ls.15-18.) The district court erroneously concluded that the previously-filed motion precluded either its ability, or its obligation, to consider whether ordering a reduction of sentence was the appropriate sentence to be ordered in this case. Because it misperceived its discretionary authority under Rule 35(b), or else misperceived its obligation to determine an “appropriate sentence” upon revoking probation, the district court abused its discretion.

Accordingly, the district court’s order revoking probation and executing the sentence as originally imposed, should be vacated. This case should be remanded to allow the district court to address the issue under the correct legal standard, recognizing that the court does indeed have

the authority to reduce Mr. Bradshaw's original sentence upon revocation of probation, notwithstanding the grant or denial of a previously-filed motion by the defendant, and that the court has the obligation to decide the appropriate sentence.

CONCLUSION

Mr. Bradshaw respectfully requests that this Court vacate the order revoking probation and imposing his original sentence, and remand the case to the district court to consider whether to exercise its *sua sponte* authority and reduce his original sentence.