Uldaho Law

Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Not Reported

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

6-14-2018

State v. Bradshaw Respondent's Brief Dckt. 45495

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature Of The Case

Tyler William Bradshaw appeals from the district court's order executing his sentence after he violated probation.

Statement Of The Facts And Course Of The Proceedings

The state charged Bradshaw with, and a jury convicted him of, attempted strangulation. (R., pp. 19, 82-83.) The district court sentenced him to eight years with three years determinate and retained jurisdiction. (Id.) The district court thereafter suspended the sentence and placed Bradshaw on probation. (R., pp. 18-22.)

A little over two months later the state moved to revoke Bradshaw's probation for failing complete his community service, associating with "someone who's last name he did not know," failing to report to his probation officer on three different dates, leaving his sober living residency without permission, failing to maintain employment by being fired for missing work, drinking alcohol, failing to appear at his domestic violence intake and failing to enroll in aftercare, absconding supervision, failing to make payments on his financial obligations, and failing to pay his supervision fee. (R., pp. 25-34.) After an evidentiary hearing the district court found Bradshaw in violation on most of the alleged violations. (R., pp. 139-40.) The district court then revoked Bradshaw's probation and executed his sentence. (R., pp. 164-67, 184-87.) Bradshaw timely appealed. (R., pp. 169-72.)

ISSUE

Bradshaw states the issue on appeal as:

Did the district court abuse its discretion when, upon revoking Mr. Bradshaw's probation, it decided to deny any reduction of sentence based on the previously filed Rule 35 motion?

(Appellant's brief, p. 4.)

The state rephrases the issue as:

Has Bradshaw failed to show that the district court abused its discretion by imposing his sentence without reducing it?

ARGUMENT

Bradshaw Has Failed To Show That The District Court Abused Its Discretion

A. Introduction

After executing Bradshaw's sentence, the district court stated, "There was a Rule 35 filed previously that's been denied. So I will not adjust the three years fixed or the five years indeterminate that will be imposed." (Tr., p. 20, Ls. 16-18.) On appeal Bradshaw argues the district court abused its discretion by not recognizing that it had authority to reduce his sentence. (Appellant's brief, pp. 5-8.) This argument fails because Bradshaw has failed to show that the district court had jurisdiction to grant its own motion for reduction of sentence after it had denied Bradshaw's previously filed motion for reduction of sentence. Even if the court had such jurisdiction, Bradshaw has failed to show on the record that the district court rejected a reduction in sentence because it believed it did not have authority to reduce the sentence.

B. Standard Of Review

"[A] lower court's decision to grant or deny a Rule 35 motion will not be disturbed in the absence of an abuse of discretion." State v. Hanson, 150 Idaho 729, 734, 249 P.3d 1184, 1189 (Ct. App. 2011).

C. Bradshaw Has Failed To Show The District Court Had Jurisdiction To Sua Sponte Reduce The Sentence

"The court may, after a probation violation has been established, order that the suspended sentence be executed or, in the alternative, the court is authorized under Idaho Criminal Rule 35 to reduce the sentence." State v. Morgan, 153 Idaho 618, 622, 288 P.3d 835, 839 (Ct. App. 2012). Rule 35 provides that "no defendant may file more than one

motion seeking a reduction of sentence under this Rule.” I.C.R. 35. This rule “clearly prohibits the filing of more than one motion for a reduction of sentence.” State v. Heyrend, 129 Idaho 568, 572, 929 P.2d 744, 748 (Ct. App. 1996). A district court lacks jurisdiction to consider a successive request for leniency under Rule 35. State v. Bottens, 137 Idaho 730, 732–33, 52 P.3d 875, 877–78 (Ct. App. 2002).

Bradshaw argues that, despite his prior Rule 35 motion requesting leniency and the district court’s lack of jurisdiction to entertain another motion from him, the district court had jurisdiction and discretion to reduce his sentence on its own motion. (Appellant’s brief, pp. 5-8.) The cases he cites, however, do not support his argument. In State v. Hanington, 148 Idaho 26, 27, 218 P.3d 5, 7 (Ct. App. 2009) (cited at Appellant’s brief, p. 5), the Idaho Court of Appeals recognized that the authority to grant a reduction of sentence upon revocation of probation “is authorized under Idaho Criminal Rule 35.”

In State v. Clontz, 156 Idaho 787, 792, 331 P.3d 529, 534 (Ct. App. 2014) (cited Appellant’s brief, pp. 5-7), the Idaho Court of Appeals held that fundamental error standards “preclude an appeal challenging the trial court’s failure to sua sponte reduce a sentence upon relinquishment of jurisdiction or revocation of probation.” Again, the legal authority for such a reduction stemmed from Rule 35. Id. at 790, 331 P.3d at 532 (“by terms of Idaho Criminal Rule 35, whenever a trial court revokes probation it has authority to sua sponte reduce the sentence that was originally pronounced”) (quoting State v. Jensen, 138 Idaho 941, 944, 71 P.3d 1088, 1091 (Ct. App. 2003)).

Finally, Bradshaw argues there is an “exception” to the rule that failure to *sua sponte* reduce a sentence is not reviewed on appeal where the question of reduction is “raised and decided by the trial court.” (Appellant’s brief, p. 6 (citing State v. DuVal, 131

Idaho 550, 554, 961 P.2d 641, 645 (1998)).) Although issues decided by the trial court are reviewable, DuValt, 131 Idaho at 553, 961 P.2d at 644, this rule of appellate review is irrelevant to whether the district court had jurisdiction to reduce the sentence.

Bradshaw has shown no instance where a court had jurisdiction to do *sua sponte* what it lacked jurisdiction to do by motion. Because the jurisdiction to reduce a sentence stems from Rule 35, and because Rule 35 does not confer jurisdiction to consider successive motions, the district court lacked jurisdiction to consider a successive motion whether the motion was made by Bradshaw or the district court *sua sponte*.

Alternatively, even if the district court had jurisdiction, Bradshaw has failed to show an abuse of discretion. Bradshaw argues that the district court did not understand that it had discretion. (Appellant's brief, pp. 5-8.) The record does not support this argument. The district court, after executing the sentence, stated, "There was a Rule 35 filed previously that's been denied. So I *will not* adjust the three years fixed or the five years indeterminate that will be imposed." (Tr., p. 20, Ls. 16-18 (emphasis added).) The district court's phrasing that it "will not" reduce the sentence is consistent with an understanding it had discretion. Had the court been inclined to reduce but concluded it lacked the authority to do so it would have said that it "cannot" reduce the sentence. Bradshaw has failed to demonstrate that the district court did not believe it could have reduced the sentence had it desired to do so, and has therefore failed to show any abuse of discretion.

CONCLUSION

The state respectfully requests this Court to affirm the district court's order executing Bradshaw's sentence.